FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/13/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102373-1

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/13/2023 3:15 PM

COA No. 83271-9-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of

CHRISTIAN T. METCALFE,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent

and

DONNA M. COCHENER,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RIVERSIDE LAW GROUP, PLLC Asti Gallina WSBA #53361 905 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 404 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 592-0108

SHARON BLACKFORD, PLLC Sharon Blackford WSBA #25331 600 Stewart Street, Ste. 400 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 459-0441

Attorneys for Petitioner

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II.	DECISION
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
IV.	INTRODUCTION2
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE 8
V.	ARGUMENT18
	A. State and federal law prohibits a trial court from using a parent's protected advocacy against them in a parenting plan modification proceeding
	B. The trial court failed in its duty to ensure that Mr. Metcalfe's protected advocacy did not subject him to retaliation in the parties' family law case24
	C. The trial court contradicted Washington case law by rejecting the only expert testimony presented as to L.'s level of special needs and concluding that Mr. Metcalfe's advocacy for an accommodation was "poor behavior."
VI.	CONCLUSION33

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
In re Marriage of Leaver, 20 Wn. App. 2d 228, 499 P.2d 222 (2021)
Navin v. Park Ridge School District 64, 270 F.3d 1147 (7th Cir. 2001)22
Pennsylvenia Department of Corrections v. Yeskey, 524 U.S. 206 (1998)19
Taylor v. Vermont Department of Education, 313 F.3d 786 (2d Cir. 2002)20
Statutes
20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(1)
28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)7
42 U.S.C. § 12203
RCW 49.60.010 et seq7
RCW 49.60.210

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Pursuant to Washington Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4, Christian T. Metcalfe respectfully requests review of the decision of the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division I, more specifically identified in Section II of this Motion.

II. DECISION

On August 14, 2023, the Division I Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion in *In re Marriage of Donna M. Cochener and Christian T. Metcalfe*, Case No. 83271-9-I, affirming the trial court's grant of sole decision-making to Respondent Donna Cochener, among other things, and reversing the trial court's *sua sponte* inclusion in the parenting plan of a provision prohibiting either party from "put[ting] down" Christianity.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Did the court of appeals err by concluding that state and federal law do not prohibit the trial court from limiting a parent's decision-making authority due, at

- least in part, to that parent's protected advocacy on behalf of his disabled children?
- 2. Did the trial court err by limiting Mr. Metcalfe's parental decision-making without determining whether any of his actions constituted protected advocacy under state or federal law?
- 3. Did the trial court err by rejecting the only expert testimony regarding L.'s level of special needs in reaching its conclusion that Mr. Metcalfe exhibited "poor behavior" by advocating for a particular accommodation for L.?

IV. INTRODUCTION

This Court may accept review of petitions that involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Court. Although this dispute arises in the context of a parenting plan modification case, it presents questions of law with the potential to impact all parents in Washington—namely, what role do federal and

state antidiscrimination and anti-retaliation laws play in a trial court's reasoning regarding whether to limit a parent's decision-making authority?

Christian Metcalfe and Donna Cochener divorced by agreement in 2016. In 2019, they filed cross-petitions to amend the parenting plan for their two sons, L. and E. In the time since Mr. Metcalfe and Ms. Cochener had divorced, both boys had been diagnosed with increasingly complicated medical and educational needs, requiring extensive support from outside providers. Both parties agreed that the co-parenting dynamic had become untenable.

Mr. Metcalfe, an entrepreneur and instructor at the University of Washington, argued that Ms. Cochener denied the extent of the children's needs and failed to ensure they received proper treatment and prioritized pleasing with providers over advocating for the boys. Ms. Cochener argued that Mr. Metcalfe engaged in excessive

conflict and made unreasonable demands of providers.

Over the course of the trial, numerous witnesses testified, including several providers against whom Mr. Metcalfe had raised formal or informal complaints. These providers generally characterized Mr. Metcalfe oversensitive and overreactive in his efforts to advocate for his sons. However, Dr. Wheeler, the court-appointed parenting evaluator, acknowledged that Mr. Metcalfe's concerns regarding these providers were "reasonable" and "logical." Indeed, Dr. Wheeler recommended the trial court award Mr. Metcalfe sole medical decision-making. Mr. Metcalfe also produced the expert testimony of Dr. Mandelkorn and Dr. Marlowe, who both testified about the boys' various medical needs.

Following trial, the trial court awarded sole medical and educational decision-making to Ms. Cochener, reasoning that split decision-making was unworkable because the boys' medical and educational decisions were so closely intertwined.

The trial court did not make any findings as to whether Mr. Metcalfe had engaged in protected advocacy on behalf of his children. It did, however, cite to numerous instances of Mr. Metcalfe's advocacy as evidence of his alleged "poor behavior" and actions.

Research shows that parents of students with disabilities are more likely to be considered problematic as a result of their efforts to advocate on behalf of their disabled students. *See* Disability Rights Education and Defense Fund Br. at 9. However, the trial court made no effort to determine whether Mr. Metcalfe's alleged conflict with providers—which it cited as a basis for awarding sole educational and medical decision-making to Ms. Cochener—arose from Mr. Metcalfe's protected advocacy on behalf of his sons.

In reaching its conclusion that Mr. Metcalfe engaged in "poor behavior," the trial court specifically relied on an

instance in which Mr. Metcalfe had advocated for the use of a calculator as an accommodation for L. but rejected expert testimony regarding L.'s level of special needs—including dyslexia, autism, and working memory deficits—and how that level impacted his need for this accommodation.

The court of appeals compounded the trial court's errors by concluding that (1) the trial court did not err by limiting Mr. Metcalfe's decision-making as a result of his advocacy efforts because federal law imposes no substantive duty on courts in parenting plan modification actions, (2) the trial court did not consider any of Mr. Metcalfe's protected advocacy efforts in reaching its decision to limit his decision-making authority, and (3) that Dr. Wheeler's testimony qualified as contrary "expert testimony" upon which the trial court properly relied in rejecting the testimony of Dr. Marlowe as to the level of L.'s special needs and what accommodations were necessary

for his education.

These conclusions not only are legally and factually incorrect, they threaten to undermine the important rights protected under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12203; 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b), Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, and the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD), RCW 49.60.010 *et seq*.

Parents of students with disabilities should enjoy the same protections afforded to all Washingtonians. They should not be limited in their advocacy for their children due to fear that such advocacy may be used against them one day in a family law proceeding. It is fundamental to the rights afforded to all Washington citizens that protected advocacy cannot form the basis for a trial court's conclusion that an individual exhibits "poor behavior" or has communication "deficits." The trial court here failed to properly account for the protected nature of Mr. Metcalfe's advocacy efforts and instead pointed to them as instances

of Mr. Metcalfe's shortcomings as a parent. The issues presented for review substantially affect the public interest and warrant the discretionary review of this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Christian Metcalfe and Donna Cochener divorced in 2016 during mediation out of court and entered into an agreed parenting plan for their two sons, L. and E. CP 1226. Since then, the boys have been diagnosed with an increasing number of disabilities, resulting in increasingly complex medical and educational needs. *Id.* In March 2020, both parties filed petitions to change the parenting plan, each arguing they should be granted sole decision-making authority. The cross petitions were presented over a six-day trial from June 28 to July 9, 2021.

At trial, evidence was presented regarding Mr. Metcalfe's "conflicts" with various service providers, including Seattle Infant Development Center (SIDC),

Magnolia Behavioral Therapy, Ryther, Spruce Street School, math tutor, Eliza Furmansky, and Carla Hershman. Notably, this is only a small number of the providers—59 total—who have worked with the parties' sons over the years. The following will briefly outline the facts surrounding these purported conflicts, which each arose from Mr. Metcalfe's advocacy on behalf of his children.

Seattle Infant Development Center

Seattle Infant Development Center ("SIDC") is a daycare that both L. and E. attended. Following an incident regarding SIDC's failure to communicate with Mr. Metcalfe and Ms. Cochener regarding a medical condition E. experienced, Mr. Metcalfe filed a complaint with the Department of Children, Youth, and Families ("DCYF"). DCYF then issued a citation to SIDC for, among other things, violation of WAC 110-300A-0070(1), which requires that the facility "be able to furnish the child in care

with a healthy, safe, nurturing, respectful, supportive, and responsive environment." Ex. 117.

Magnolia Behavioral Therapy

Magnolia Behavioral Therapy ("MBT") MBT is an independent medical provider contracted by Ms. Cochener and Mr. Metcalfe that provided Applied Behavioral Analysis (ABA) therapy to L. from December 2015–November 2018. In the fall of 2018, Mr. Metcalfe and Ms. Cochener jointly decided to terminate MBT's services. *See* Ex. 680. During the time it provided care, MBT provided an Applied Behavioral Analysis technician directly supervised by a Board Certified Behavioral Analyst for L. 2-3 days a week on-site at Spruce Street School.

In the fall of 2018, Mr. Metcalfe terminated MBT's services one week prior to the parties' planned termination date because MBT had implemented an unauthorized behavior tracking system for L. Mr. Metcalfe requested an explanation regarding the pros and cons of the new

behavior tracking system. He wrote, "Whether well intentioned or not I believe your actions and approach to be flawed and not in the best long term interests of my son... Please be advised that as of end of day tomorrow, Fri 10, 26, I withdraw my consent for you, your firm and your providers to work with my son, [L.]."

Ryther

Ryther is an independent medical and social skills classes provider contracted by Mr. Metcalfe and Ms. Cochener. L. attended, and continues to attend Ryther's Aspiring Youth social skills classes.

Between November 2018–June 2019 Ryther provided a paraprofessional for L 2-3 days a week on-site at Spruce Street School. Between September 2019 - March 2020 Ryther was contracted to provide an ABA technician to be directly supervised by a Board Certified Behavioral Analyst for L 2-3 days a week.

Between Sept 2019–November 2019 Ryther

provided an ABA technician who was not, as required by law, licensed to practice in Washington State. From September 2019–March 2020, also contrary to Washington law, Ryther's Board Certified Behavioral Analyst never directly supervised L's behavioral technician. Ryther's CEO admitted during trial that Ryther had violated WAC 246-805-330 5(d) and 5(e). 4 RP 1634–35; Exs. 680, 683.

Carla Hershman

Carla Hershman is a clinical social worker that L. saw from Sept 2019 - April 2020. L. stopped seeing Ms. Hershman because, as she admitted at trial, she had not been licensed to work in Washington State the entire time that she was L's provider despite having represented herself as licensed during this time. 3 RP 1332.

Eliza Furmansky

Ms. Furmansky is a tutor who has worked with (and continues to work with) L. In November 2019, Mr. Metcalfe

and Ms. Furmansky had a disagreement over L.'s use of a calculator on certain math worksheets. Ms. Furmansky had instructed L. not to use a calculator, but during the course of a tutoring session, L.'s brother, E., entered the room and told Ms. Furmansky that L. had used a calculator. 3 RP 1300. Ms. Furmansky started erasing L.'s answers, which caused L. to become upset. *Id*.

Following this interaction, Mr. Metcalfe emailed Ms. Furmansky to inform her that L.'s IEP team—which included Mr. Metcalfe and Ms. Cochener—had agreed to a draft IEP that provided for the use of a calculator in *all settings. See* Ex. 191; Ex. 106. Mr. Metcalfe requested that Ms. Furmansky honor that accommodation. *Id*.

Ms. Furmansky responded to the email by explaining her rationale for instructing L. not to use a calculator. *Id*. Mr. Metcalfe responded, "I understand your opinion, but you misunderstand your role with my and [Ms. Cochener's] son. You are not the decision maker. If you'll neither honor

[L.'s] legal rights under his IEP or my co-equal decision making authority as his parent, I wonder if you want to continue working with [L.]?" *Id.* In the final email, Mr. Metcalfe said, "I also suspect that per Title III of the ADA/ADAAA that your business can not legally deny this reasonable accommodation to my son—and that to do so would constitute discrimination. . . So to be clear if you are to continue to work with [L.], you need to follow the IEP and allow him to use a calculator—even for simple math. If you can't follow that guideline then I do not believe you should continue to work with [L.]." *Id.* Mr. Metcalfe also attached two calculators to L.'s binder and taped over Ms. Furmansky's directions not to use a calculator. 3 RP 1302.

Ms. Furmansky testified that she had not had any other conflicts with Mr. Metcalfe since that incident. 3 RP 1307.

Spruce Street School

Spruce Street School is a private school that provides

education for grades K-5. L. attended Spruce Street School from 2014–2020, and E. entered his final year in 2023. Ms. Cochener sits on Spruce Street School's Board of Trustees and is a major financial donor to the school. *See* Ex. 660.

Mr. Metcalfe and Spruce Street School worked effectively together to support L. for many years. Spruce Street School's Head of School, Briel Schmitz, testified that L. was "probably the most complicated kid we've had go through the school." 3 RP 1213.

In 2019, Mr. Metcalfe requested that Spruce Street School resume use of daily behavior charts to support L. an accommodation which the school was also offering to E. at the time. After back-and-forth over the effectiveness of implementing accommodation, this Mr. Metcalfe presented Spruce Street School with a letter from L.'s behavioral specialist, Dr. Mandelkorn, M.D., recommending the use of a daily behavioral chart. 3 RP 1220; Ex. 165.

A few days later, Spruce Street School informed Mr. Metcalfe and Ms. Cochener that L.'s reenrollment for his sixth and final school year would be conditioned on both parents being subject to a restrictive communication plan that limited the nature and frequency of their communication with Spruce Street School teachers and administrators regarding only L., and not E. (even though E. was also an enrolled student). *See* Ex. 600.

In August 2019, Mr. Metcalfe contacted the Washington Human Rights Commission ("HRC") regarding Spruce Street School's conduct. Mr. Metcalfe contacted the HRC again in December 2019 regarding Spruce Street School's continued failure to provide L. with accommodations. See Ex. 122.

In February 2020, Spruce Street School denied E. a reenrollment contract unless something could be done about Mr. Metcalfe. This prompted Ms. Cochener to seek a pre-trial temporary order prohibiting Mr. Metcalfe from

initiating any communication with E.'s teachers. *See* Ex. 511. Those temporary restrictions were ultimately vacated by the trial court after the parenting plan modification trial.

Dr. Wheeler, PhD., the court-appointed parenting evaluator, testified that Mr. Metcalfe's complaints were "based in logic" and "reason" and that the content and topics about which Mr. Metcalfe was raising concerns were reasonable and rational issues to address. 2 RP 597-98, 600–02. Dr. Wheeler further testified that Ms. Cochener had become increasingly dismissive and avoidant of Mr. Metcalfe's efforts to communicate and co-parent, instead resorting to her skills as an attorney to litigate rather than co-parent. Ex. 1. Dr. Wheeler recommended that the trial court award educational decision-making to Ms. Cochener and medical decision-making to Mr. Metcalfe. 2 RP 618-19.

The trial court awarded sole medical and educational

decision making to Ms. Cochener, concluding that split decision making was not a possibility because the boys' medical and educational issues were so closely intertwined and that "[Ms. Cochener] has *less* deficits than [Mr. Metcalfe] in the area of interpersonal communication." CP 1233.

V. ARGUMENT

A. State and federal law prohibits a trial court from using a parent's protected advocacy against them in a parenting plan modification proceeding.

As Mr. Metcalfe explained in his brief on appeal, the trial court erred by basing its decision to award Ms. Cochener sole medical and educational decision-making on instances in which he had engaged in federally- and state-protected advocacy on behalf of the parties' children. Metcalfe Br. at 55. The court of appeals rejected this argument, reasoning that there was no authority "holding that any federal law imposes any substantive requirements on a state court deciding the issue of decision-making in a

parenting plan according to state law." Op. at 19. This reasoning misstates Mr. Metcalfe's position on appeal and misapplies state and federal law.

All entities that receive federal financial assistance from the Department of Justice, including state judicial systems, are prohibited from discrimination on the basis of disability under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. *Penn. Dept. of Corrections v. Yeskey*, 524 U.S. 206 (1998). State courts are likewise prohibited from retaliating against an individual for engaging in advocacy on behalf of disabled persons. *See* 42 U.S.C. 12203. Mr. Metcalfe's advocacy on behalf of his children's known disabilities is protected advocacy, for which retaliation is prohibited under federal law.

RCW 49.60.210 provides similar protections:

It is an unfair practice for any employer, employment agency, labor union, or other person to discharge, expel, or otherwise discriminate against any person because he or she has opposed any practices forbidden by this chapter, or because he or she has filed a charge, testified, or assisted in any proceeding under this chapter.

The court of appeals cited *Taylor v. Vermont Department of Education*, 313 F.3d 786, 772 (2d Cir. 2002), for the proposition that the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) cannot supersede a state court's authority to grant sole educational decision-making to the other parent. Op. at 19–20. However, the court's reliance on this opinion is misplaced. In that case, the appellant, Pam Taylor, was the natural mother of L.D. Taylor obtained a divorce from L.D.'s father and her decision-making authority was terminated in a subsequent custody proceeding.

L.D. was diagnosed with an emotional-behavioral disability and was given an Individualized Education Program ("IEP"). The IEP team did not include Taylor.

Taylor demanded an Independent Educational Evaluation under 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(1), which permits "a parent" who disagrees with a public agency's evaluation

either to initiate a hearing in which the agency must show that its initial evaluation was appropriate or to obtain a second evaluation at public expense. This request was denied, and Taylor was not included in further discussions about L.D.'s education. Taylor brought suit, seeking, among other things, injunctive relief and damages under the IDEA.

On appeal, the court considered whether Taylor had standing to exercise parental rights under IDEA. Taylor argued that natural parents retain their rights under IDEA unless the state brings a proceeding to terminate their parental status. The court concluded that it must "look to state law" to "establish which potential parent has authority to make special education decisions for the child." *Id.* at 779. Because Vermont's Board of Education Rules looks to domestic law, the court concluded that Taylor did not have standing under the ADA. *Id.* at 781–82. ("Vermont [] does not allow natural parents whose legal

authority to make educational decisions on behalf of a child has been terminated by operation of local domestic law to challenge an IEP determination.").

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