FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
10/13/2023 1:18 PM  
BY ERIN L. LENNON  
CLERK

No. 102373-1

SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

In re the Marriage of:

DONNA M. COCHENER,

Respondent,

and

CHRISTIAN T. METCALFE,

Petitioner.

---

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Valerie Villacin  
WSBA No. 34515

1619 8<sup>th</sup> Avenue North  
Seattle, WA 98109  
(206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

**

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

Rather than the IDEA, Metcalfe now claims that the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and the Washington

State Law Against Discrimination Act (WLAD) controls the trial court's decision on parental decision-making for children. (Petition 19) However, neither the ADA nor WLAD, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability or retaliation against an individual for engaging in advocacy on behalf of disabled persons, limits the trial court's authority to grant sole decision-making to one parent in a proceeding where "the best interests of the child shall be the standard." RCW 26.09.002.

For instance, in *Marriage of Fahey*, 164 Wn. App. 42, 262 P.3d 128 (2011), *rev. denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1019 (2012), Division Two rejected the father's argument that the trial court's consideration of his disability in deciding whether to allow the children to relocate with the mother was "per se illegal discrimination or bias." Division Two held that the trial court properly considered the father's disability in its "overall analysis" of the relocation factors under RCW 26.09.520. 164 Wn. App. at 64, ¶49. Division Two held the

trial court properly considered the impact the father's "disability had on his ability to provide for his children's needs" in deciding whether to allow or restrain the children's relocation. 164 Wn. App. at 64, ¶49.

Here, even if Metcalfe's purported advocacy efforts were "protected" (which Cochener does not concede), the trial court was not barred from relying on its negative impact on the children in choosing to grant Cochener sole decision-making over Metcalfe's objection. As this Court has held, "[w]e have long recognized a parent's right to raise his or her children may be limited in dissolution proceedings because the competing fundamental rights of both parents and the best interests of the child must also be considered." *Katara v. Katara*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 42, ¶36, 283 P.3d 546 (2012), *cert. denied*, 568 U.S. 1090 (2013).

In fact, this Court and all three divisions of the Court of Appeals have recognized that a trial court has authority to enter provisions in a parenting plan that protect children

from harm, even harm caused by protected conduct of the parent. *See e.g., Katare*, 175 Wn.2d at 41-42, ¶¶ 35, 36 (upholding restriction preventing father from taking his children to India, the father’s home country); *Marriage of Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d 632, 653, ¶¶44-46, 327 P.3d 644 (2014) (upholding restriction on father “cosleeping” with child despite father’s claim that it was part of his culture); *see also Momb v. Ragone*, 132 Wn. App. 70, 80-81, ¶¶23-27, 130 P.3d 406 (statute authorizing courts to prevent child’s relocation does not violate relocating parent’s “fundamental right to freedom in making personal choices regarding private family matters”), *rev. denied*, 158 Wn.2d 1021 (2006); *Marriage of Olson*, 69 Wn. App. 621, 630, 850 P.2d 527 (1993) (interest of “preserving and fostering health relationship between parents and their children” outweighed father’s “First Amendment right to speak his mind freely”); *Dickson v. Dickson*, 12 Wn. App. 183, 187-88, 529 P.2d 476 (1974), *cert. denied*, 423 U.S. 832 (1975)

(upholding speech restrictions on father, which threatened to have a detrimental impact on the children).

Because any federally protected rights Metcalfe may have did not trump the trial court's authority under state law to make a decision that was in the children's best interests to protect them from the negative effects of Metcalfe's behavior, this Court should deny review of Division One's unpublished decision.

**2. The trial court did not retaliate against father for his purported "protected advocacy."**

Because neither the ADA nor WLAD limits the trial court's authority under RCW ch. 26.09 to make decisions in the best interest of the children and protect them from harm, review of Division One's decision is not warranted based on Metcalfe's claim that the trial court "failed in its duty to ensure" that Metcalfe's purported protected advocacy "did not subject him to retaliation." (Petition 24)

In seeking review, Metcalfe claims “the record is replete with instances of [his] advocacy.” (Petition 25) No one disputed that Metcalfe’s interactions with the children’s providers were in “advocacy” of what he believed was in the children’s best interest. In fact, there were instances where Cochener agreed with Metcalfe’s position on an issue. It was his execution of that position that Cochener disagreed with. As Cochener described, Metcalfe does not understand “where advocacy ends and where [ ] outright conflict begins.” (RP 1591)

For instance, as Metcalfe points out in his petition, he and Cochener had agreed to change the older son’s ABA therapist. (Petition 26) However, Cochener did not agree with Metcalfe’s execution of that decision—by unilaterally and abruptly terminating the ABA therapist without a transition plan for a new ABA therapist—because it negatively impacted the son. (RP 1462-64, 1499; Ex. 151) As Cochener testified, this had a “huge impact” on the son,

who was “very upset to not say goodbye to [his therapist] and had some outbursts over it and some crying over it.” (RP 1463-65)

It was how Metcalfe carried out his advocacy, not the advocacy itself, that negatively impacted the children. Another example is the dispute Metcalfe had with the older son’s tutor regarding his use of a calculator. (Petition 25) In addressing this dispute, the trial court did not find that Metcalfe was not entitled to address this issue with the tutor; the trial court’s concern was Metcalfe’s “reaction” to the dispute, which it found “outrageous” and caused the son “discomfort.” (FF 10B(17), CP 1234)

Metcalfe accused the tutor of “undermining” and “shaming” the son. (RP 1301) The tutor described Metcalfe’s emails to her as “condescending, patronizing, threatening, hurtful, and . . . ridiculous,” reaching “an absurd level of crazy.” (RP 1304-05) Metcalfe also Velcroed two calculators into the binder holding the son’s

assignments and stickered over the tutor's directions to not use a calculator for function machine homework. (RP 1302, 1304-05)

Metcalf also unnecessarily drew the son into the dispute by "ril[ing] [him] up (RP 1302-03), bringing him "into the drama," and putting him in the "middle," which was "confusing" to him. (Ex. 2 (DMC 00069)) Metcalf also wanted to terminate the tutor, who had, at that point, been successfully working with the son for the previous three years. Because Cochener disagreed with terminating the tutor, the issue had to be arbitrated. (RP 1292, 1485-86)

As Division One recognized, the trial court did not "rely on the content of Metcalf's communications nor criticize at any point his right to seek appropriate care for his children." (Op. 20) Instead, as Division One recognized, the trial court was concerned with Metcalf's "communication style," which was "interfering with the children's ability to receive the support they needed." (Op.

20) As Division One pointed out, “multiple providers testified that Metcalfe’s manner of interaction negatively impacted their relationships with Metcalfe and affected quality of service they were able to provide.” (Op. 7)

The trial court described Metcalfe’s “advocacy efforts” as “overwhelming, burdensome, intimidating, persistent, tenacious, and manipulative,” which “alienated important people” in the children’s lives and “negatively impact[ed]” the children. (FF 10(B)(17), CP 1234) Further, the children’s providers described the burden caused by Metcalfe due to the “extraordinary” amount of “time and demands he has.” (Op. 10-11)

In light of this evidence and the trial court’s finding that the children’s special needs demand “frequent decision-making and information sharing” (FF 10B(8), CP 1233), which requires “[c]ommunicating with providers and coordinating the children’s care [that] is involved and time-consuming” (FF 10A(2), CP 1231), Division One held

that the trial court’s “finding that Cochener has less deficit in the area of interpersonal communication, provide a tenable basis for the trial court to conclude it is in the best interests of the children that Cochener hold sole decision-making.” (Op. 14-15)

Division One’s decision affirming the trial court’s discretionary decision granting Cochener sole decision-making, which it held was supported by substantial evidence, does not violate any federal protected rights of Metcalfe. This Court should deny review.

**3. Division One’s decision affirming the trial court’s credibility determination regarding petitioner’s expert witnesses is consistent with this Court’s decisions.**

As this Court has held, “[t]he credit to be given to any witness’s testimony, including expert opinion testimony, is quintessentially a matter for the trier of fact to determine.” *Strauss v. Premera Blue Cross*, 194 Wn.2d 296, 302, ¶11, 449 P.3d 640 (2019); *see also Marriage of Sedlock*, 69 Wn. App. 484, 491, 849 P.2d 1243 (“The factfinder is given wide

latitude in the weight to give expert opinion.”), *rev. denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1014 (1993). “A trial court has the right to reject expert testimony in whole or in part in accordance with its views as to the persuasive character of that evidence.” *Brewer v. Copeland*, 86 Wn.2d 58, 74, 542 P.2d 445 (1975).

Consistent with this Court’s decisions, Division One properly affirmed the trial court’s decision placing “great weight” on the testimony of the parenting evaluator and “not great weight” on the testimony of Dr. Marlowe, Metcalfe’s expert witness. (Op. 15-18) As Division One recognized, the trial court had a sound basis for placing greater weight on the testimony of the parenting evaluator, who the trial court found performed an “extremely thorough” investigation, including “hours of interviews with both parents, the children, and providers” than on Dr. Marlowe, who “had limited interactions with Mother and the children.” (Op. 17, quoting FF 10B(16), CP 1234)

Dr. Marlowe in fact had *zero* interaction with Cochener and the children. Nor did she speak to any of the children's providers. (RP 168, 171) Instead, Dr. Marlowe's opinion was based solely on records and information from Metcalfe. (RP 173, 175) As a result, Dr. Marlowe did not have the "whole picture" of the children on which to form an opinion of their progress and needs (RP 1489), which the trial court properly considered when deciding the weight to place on her testimony. A factfinder may disregard an expert opinion if the information supplied to the expert was "incomplete or unreliable." *Jarstad v. Tacoma Outdoor Recreation, Inc.*, 10 Wn. App. 551, 556, 519 P.2d 278, *rev. denied*, 83 Wn.2d 1014 (1974).

For instance, Dr. Marlowe testified that she believed the younger son was a "non-reader" and dyslexic. (RP 195-96) However, had she spoken to Cochener or the younger son's teachers, Dr. Marlowe would have learned that not only could the younger son read, he was a "voracious

reader,” who was reading above grade level. (RP 1155-56, 1520-22)

Similarly, Dr. Marlowe concluded that the older son could not learn a ten times multiplication table without a calculator. (RP 190-91) However, had she spoken to the older son’s tutor, who had, by then, been working with him for 5 years, Dr. Marlowe would have learned that the son was not only capable of learning a ten times multiplication table without a calculator, he had in fact learned it. (RP 1303; *see also* RP 1487-88)

Nevertheless, Metcalfe claims the trial court abused its discretion in not placing greater weight on Dr. Marlowe’s testimony when “no other expert evidence contradicted Dr. Marlowe’s testimony that” the older son “must use a calculator in all settings.” (Petition 32) However, as this Court held, “[e]ven in those instances where several competent experts concur in their opinion and no opposing expert evidence is offered, the [factfinder

is] still bound to decide the issue upon their own fair judgment, assisted by the statements of the experts.” *Richey & Gilbert Co. v. Nw. Nat. Gas Corp.*, 16 Wn.2d 631, 650, 134 P.2d 444 (1943). “The credibility of expert testimony . . . , even though uncontradicted, is for the trier of the facts.” *Swenson v. Lowe*, 5 Wn. App. 186, 191, 486 P.2d 1120 (1971).

Expert opinions are “purely advisory in character” and the factfinder “may place whatever weight they choose upon such testimony and may reject it, if they find that it is inconsistent with the facts in the case or otherwise unreasonable.” *Richey*, 16 Wn.2d at 650; *see also Fernando v. Nieswandt*, 87 Wn. App. 103, 107, 940 P.2d 1380, *rev. denied*, 133 Wn.2d 1014 (1997) (court is free to reject the recommendation of an expert if not supported by the other evidence). “The trial court may refuse to accept uncontradicted expert testimony as long as it does not act in an arbitrary or capricious manner.” *State ex rel. Flieger*

*v. Hendrickson*, 46 Wn. App. 184, 190, 730 P.2d 88 (1986), *rev. denied*, 107 Wn.2d 1032 (1987).

Here, it was not “arbitrary or capricious” for the trial court to place less weight on Dr. Marlowe’s testimony, which was solely based on records, than the testimony of the parenting evaluator who spoke with the children, parents, and providers, as well as testimony from the providers themselves and Cochener, who observe and interact with the children on a regular basis.

Metcalfé nevertheless claims review is warranted because Division One’s decision conflicts with Division Three’s decision in *Marriage of Leaver*, 20 Wn. App.2d 228, 499 P.3d 222 (2021), which he claims stands for the proposition that “it is a manifest abuse of discretion to adopt an untrained lay opinion over that of qualified experts.” (Petition 31-32) Metcalfé is wrong.

As Division One concluded, *Leaver* is “distinguishable.” (Op. 17-18) In *Leaver*, Division Three

held that the trial court should have given greater weight to the expert testimony from the husband's psychiatrist and neuropsychological evaluator, who opined that the husband was disabled and unable to work, than to the lay opinion of the wife, who admitted "she was not deeply involved in [his] mental health treatment," and had never witnessed the husband "outside the home on a full-time or near full-time basis at his current stage of mental illness." *See* 20 Wn. App.2d at 240, ¶¶29, 30.

Division Three recognized in *Leaver* that "[m]ental illness, particularly depression, can present itself with symptomatology resembling personality defects such as laziness or lack of motivation. Given the risk of confusion, there is a grave danger in deferring to a layperson's assessment of the nature of mental illness, particularly when the layperson has a financial incentive to disregard the impact of mental illness." 20 Wn. App.2d at 240, ¶30.

Here, unlike the experts in *Leaver*, Dr. Marlowe never met the children, who were the subject of her evaluation. Further, whether the children can perform their multiplication tables without a calculator or read are not subjects where there is a “risk of confusion”—they either can, or they cannot, and lay witnesses who work with the children can testify to their own personal observations of the children’s capabilities. *See* ER 701 (lay witness may provide opinion that is “rationally based on the perception of the witness”).

It is not the law that testimony of an expert witness outweighs the testimony of a lay witness. As this Court has held, “[c]ompetent testimony, both expert and lay, is entitled to the weight and credibility the court or jury, as the case may be, thinks it is entitled to under all the circumstances, and neither takes precedence over the other as a matter of law.” *Windsor v. Bourcier*, 21 Wn.2d 313, 316, 150 P.2d 717 (1944). The factfinder has the right to

believe the testimony of lay witnesses and to disbelieve the testimony of expert witnesses. *Greene v. Union Pac. Stages*, 182 Wash. 143, 146, 45 P.2d 611 (1935); see also *Estate of Stalkup v. Vancouver Clinic, Inc., P.S.*, 145 Wn. App. 572, 590-91, ¶42, 187 P.3d 291 (2008) (trier of fact is free to disbelieve testimony of an expert witness). A court is not required to accept the conclusion of an expert witnesses “and reject the testimony of lay witnesses in conflict therewith.” *Windsor*, 21 Wn.2d at 316.

Because Division One’s decision affirming the trial court’s credibility determination and the weight it placed on the evidence is consistent with decisions from this Court and the lower appellate courts, review is not warranted.

**D. Conclusion.**

This Court should deny review.

*I certify that this answer is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 4,205 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).*